DA 3-6.98 017

FILE DON'T

A NES

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 91,712

FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CASE NOS.: 96-02661 and 96-02979

NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT CASE NO. CI 95-6890

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS,
Petitioner,

vs.

BRADENTON GROUP, INC., et al., Respondents.

BRADENTON GROUP, INC., et al.,
Petitioners,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS,
Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JACQUELINE H. DOWD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 714410
Department of Legal Affairs
28 West Central Blvd., Suite 310
Orlando, Florida 32801
(407) 245-0833

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

ě.

1. Nature of the case. This civil RICO case, asserting that the Respondents engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity by conducting illegal lotteries, is brought under FLA. STAT. ch. 895, which is known as the Florida RICO (Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations) Act. The State's Amended Complaint contains five counts asserting violations of FLA. STAT. § 895.03, (App. 1 at 34-39), which are based on 54 predicate acts of conducting illegal lotteries in violation of FLA. STAT. § 849.09. (App. 1 at 11-34).

The State seeks relief which includes temporary and permanent injunctions prohibiting the Defendants from conducting unauthorized bingo games and operating illegal lotteries and from disposing of, transferring, relocating, concealing, dissipating, or otherwise altering the status or nature of various assets without prior approval of the Court. (App. 1 at 40). The State also seeks the forfeiture of real and personal property which was used in the course of, intended for use in the course of, derived from or realized through conduct in violation of the Florida RICO Act.

Respondents Bradenton Group, Inc., Eight Hundred, Inc., and Pondella Hall for Hire, Inc., are Florida corporations which conducted a large-scale, commercial bingo operation comprised of 15 bingo halls in Orange, Osceola, Sarasota, Lee, Manatee, Polk,

Highlands, Hillsborough, Pinellas, Pasco, Marion and Charlotte counties. (App. 1 at 11-34).

The State has alleged that these corporate Defendants do not qualify as "worthy organizations" and that the bingo games they conducted do not qualify as "authorized bingo" under FLA. STAT. § 849.0931. Therefore, the State alleges, Respondents are engaged in conducting illegal lotteries in violation of FLA. STAT. § 849.09. (App. 1 at para. 27). Conducting an illegal lottery is a RICO predicate, included by FLA. STAT. § 895.02(1)(a)(32) in the definition of racketeering activity.

The conduct at issue is *not* minor, technical violations of the bingo statute, as Respondents would have this Court believe. Rather, Respondents conducted a multi-million dollar commercial bingo operation in total disregard for the laws enacted to prevent illegal gambling in this State. Respondents' seven-day-per-week bingo halls -- in effect, "mini-casinos" -- made vast amounts of money in comparison to the relative crumbs they doled out to the charities. After prize payouts, the commercial bingo hall operators

a The State is using the term "worthy organization" as shorthand for the statutory language which defines a "charitable, nonprofit, or veterans' organization" as "an organization which has qualified for exemption from federal income tax as an exempt organization under the provisions of s. 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 or s. 528 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; which is engaged in charitable, civic, community, benevolent, religious, or scholastic works or other similar activities; and which has been in existence and active for a period of 3 years or more." See FLA. STAT. § 849.0931(1)(c).

typically received \$1,000 to \$2,000 per day from the bingo receipts at each hall while the charity or charities in whose name the bingo games were conducted received \$100 to \$200. In a seven-day-per-week operation, this amounts to \$365,000 to \$730,000 per year for the commercial operator and only \$36,500 to \$73,000 for all of the charities involved.<sup>b</sup>

These profits were generated by diverting bingo proceeds from the charities by charging inflated costs for rent and bingo supplies, and by charging the charities for a variety of other items which were not "articles designed for and essential to the operation, conduct, and playing of bingo." As testimony and documentary evidence presented to the trial court showed:

■ At the Highlands County hall, charities were charged \$300 in rent per session. With 16 sessions a week, the rent charges produced \$250,000 per year. (App. 4 at 31-32). At the Pinellas County hall, charities were charged \$580 per session for rent, including insurance and a fixed charge for utilities. (App. 4 at 115-117, 138). With 14 sessions a week, these charges produced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> See Report No. 1 of the Twelfth Statewide Grand Jury Regarding the Operation of Commercial Bingo Halls, Supreme Court Case No. 83,964 (Oct. 25, 1995).

<sup>°</sup> FLA. STAT. § 849.0931(2)(a) requires that the "entire proceeds derived from the conduct of [bingo] games, less actual business expenses for articles designed for and essential to the operation, conduct, and playing of bingo," must be donated to charitable, civic, community, benevolent, religious, or scholastic works or other similar activities.

\$422,249 per year. At the Polk County hall, charities were charged \$400 in rent, plus additional charges which included janitorial services, insurance, utilities and maintenance. (App.  $5^d$  at 2-3). The rent charges alone produced \$438,000 a year. (App. 5 at 3).

- Charities were charged 75¢ per cup for coffee given to bingo players who had received a ticket when they purchased a pack of pre-numbered bingo cards. (App. 4 at 110-111). During a New Year's Eve party at the Pinellas County hall, the charity was charged \$322 for "breakfast." (App. 6 at 3). A former snack bar operator testified that the charities were charged \$2.00 each for players' meals, although the meals actually cost about 70¢. (App. 4 at 89).
- Charities were also charged for "shop points" given to players when they purchased cards. These points could be accumulated and then redeemed for novelty items. The charity which happened to be sponsoring bingo at the time the accumulated points were redeemed was charged for the expense of the novelty item.

  (App. 4 at 99, 111-112; see also App. 5 at 6, 8).
- The price of bingo paper was inflated so that the commercial operators could make a profit. (App. 4 at 112-12; see also App. 6 at 3).

d The Affidavit of Deputy Sheriff William T. Young, Jr., Deputy Sheriff Theresa Bernard and Police Office David Doty was formally accepted into evidence by the trial court at the first hearing on a motion to dissolve the injunction. (App. 4 at 144).

These charges to the charities usually totaled more than the proceeds from each session's bingo games; nevertheless, the charity in whose name the games were conducted was given a "donation." (App. 4 at 88, 110, 115-16; see also App. 6 at 1). Even when the proceeds from a bingo session exceeded the charges to the charity, the accumulated shortfall from previous sessions was applied so that the charity rarely, if ever, received more than the standard "donation." (App. 4 at 88-89, 110, 115-16, 139; see also App. 6 at 4).

Š

An example of how the costs were charged to the charity was presented to the trial court in the form of a "tally sheet" and accompanying documents from a bingo session conducted at Northtowne Bingo in Lakeland. (App. 6; see also App. 5 at 2-3). The "Bingo Daily Cash/Expense Summary," a report required by Polk County ordinance, shows that costs of \$1144 were charged to the charity, and that the charity received nothing from that \$4606 taken in during that bingo session. (App. 6 at 1). The cash receipts show a total of \$1577 was collected by the commercial operator from the charity, including \$433 "added to rent to pay back loan to purchase party supplies." (App. 6 at 2, 4). Charges to the charity included another \$501 for decorations and party supplies, \$322 for breakfast, and \$464.75 for bingo paper. (App. 6 at 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> The "Bingo Daily Cash/Expense Summary" and related documents were formally accepted into evidence by the trial court on May 7, 1996.

Proceeds from bingo games were also used to pay the "volunteers" who conducted the bingo games. (App. 4 at 75-76, 80, 102; App. 2, Exhibit Af at paras. 14, 19, 20, 60, 62). A former employee testified that she had personally put bingo proceeds into the tip boxes from which the "volunteers" were paid, and that she had seen other employees do the same. (App. 4 at 76; see also App. 2, Exhibit A at para. 14). The "volunteers" worked for the hall management, which hired them, scheduled their hours and directed them in their duties. (App. 4 at 77, 79-80, 86, 104, 131-32). No matter which charity was listed as sponsoring a particular bingo session, the same "volunteers" worked the games. (App. 4 at 90; App. 5 at 5).

Proceeds from bingo games also were used to create pools for random drawings for cash and other prizes, including trips to Las Vegas. (App. 4 at 83-84; App. 2, Exhibit A at paras. 15, 21, 55). After a New Year's Eve party at the Pinellas County hall, the charity was charged more than \$900 for party decorations and party supplies. (App. 6 at 3, 4).

At times, bingo games were conducted on behalf of organizations which did not qualify under the bingo statute for authority to conduct bingo games. (App. 2, Exhibit A at paras. 21,

f Investigator Schuchman's affidavit, in addition to providing the basis for the issuance of the injunction, was formally accepted into evidence by the trial court at the first hearing on a motion to dissolve the injunction. (App. 4 at 147).

30, 49, 53, 56, 68, 73, 77). On occasion, bingo games were conducted without any sponsoring charity at all. (App. 4 at 85; App. 2, Exhibit A at para. 15).

Based on the testimony and documentary evidence presented, the trial court made determinations that:

- "Defendants ... were associated, and continue to be associated, with an enterprise consisting of those named Defendants, and they conducted or participated in this enterprise through the 54 incidents of setting up, promoting or conducting a lottery for money or for anything of value, or aiding or assisting in the setting up, promoting or conducting of a lottery or lottery drawing, by writing, printing or in any other manner whatsoever, or by having an interest in or connection with a lottery or a lottery drawing, in violation of Section 849.09(1)(a) or (d), Florida Statutes." (App. 3 at para. 1).
- These acts were interrelated and not isolated acts, so as to form a pattern of racketeering activity. Plaintiff has made a sufficient showing that these Defendants violated the Florida RICO (Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization) Act ..." (App. 3 at para. 2).
- There is sufficient evidence to support Plaintiff's contention that Defendants ... used, acquired or maintained the following assets in the course of and with the proceeds of the RICO

Act violations, so as to render them subject to forfeiture to the State ..." (App. 3 at para. 3).

2. <u>Course of Proceedings.</u> The State's Complaint was filed November 6, 1995. An Amended Complaint (App. 1) was filed November 21, 1995, correcting several irregularities in the naming of specific defendants in particular predicate acts.

An Order Granting Temporary Injunction and Other Preliminary Relief (App. 3) was entered November 6, 1995. That order expressly states: "Because Plaintiff is a public agency proceeding in the public interest, no bond shall be required ..." See App. 3 at para. 9.

Multiple evidentiary hearings were held on motions to dissolve filed by various Defendants. On November 21, 1995, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on a motion to dissolve filed by Defendants Neway Rental & Leasing, Janet Feliciano and Frank Feliciano. This hearing lasted more than four hours. The motion to dissolve was denied. On December 29, 1995, an evidentiary hearing was held on Respondents' motion to dissolve. That motion also was denied.

On September 19, 1996, Respondents Bradenton Group, Inc., Eight Hundred, Inc., and Pondella Hall for Hire, Inc., filed a notice of appeal of the court's denial of their motion to dissolve the injunction. (R. 1).

On October 14, 1996, while the appeal was still pending, the trial court entered an order requiring the State to post an injunction bond of \$1.4 million. (App. 12) This order was based upon the unsworn telephonic statement of an officer of the Respondent corporations. (App. 11).

The State subsequently appealed that order (R. 2-5), and the two appeals were consolidated on February 13, 1997. (R. 25).

3. <u>Disposition in the Lower Tribunal</u>. On October 3, 1997, the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion in the consolidated appeals. *Bradenton Group, Inc.*, v. *Department of Legal Affairs*, 701 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). The appellate court affirmed the trial court's order denying the motion to dissolve the injunction, ruling that the State's complaint and affidavit sufficiently allege that the defendants, as persons not authorized to conduct bingo under Florida law, set up, promoted, or conducted a lottery in violation of FLA. STAT. § 849.09. *Id.* at 1179. Nevertheless, the court certified this question:

WHETHER A BINGO GAME, CONDUCTED BY AN ORGANIZATION NOT AUTHORIZED UNDER SECTION 849.0931, FLORIDA STATUTES, OR CONDUCTED BY AN AUTHORIZED ORGANIZATION IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 849.0931(5)-(12), FLORIDA STATUTES, CONSTITUTES A "LOTTERY" AS THAT TERM IS USED IN SECTION 849.09, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND, THUS, IS RACKETEERING ACTIVITY WHICH IS SUBJECT TO FLORIDA RICO.

Id. at 1179.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal also affirmed the trial court's order requiring the State to post an injunction bond,

holding that a trial court may adjust a bond requirement upon a demonstration that such would be equitable under the circumstances. Id. at 1180. Noting that the broad injunction requested and obtained by the State would severely damage the Defendants if its entry was improper, the court concluded that requiring the State to post an injunction bond in a civil RICO case was not an abuse of discretion, despite the State's contention that such a requirement would force the State to choose between placing at risk vast sums of public money or declining to file suit against offenders who have amassed large amounts of criminal proceeds. Id. at 1180.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The gravamen of the State's case is the conduct of illegal lotteries, not minor bingo violations. The game of bingo entails a prize, an award by chance, and a consideration and, therefore, constitutes a lottery. For more than 50 years, the Florida courts have consistently held that bingo is gambling and an illegal lottery. A limited exception to Florida's general prohibition against gambling exists for bingo games conducted by "worthy organizations" in compliance with FLA. STAT. § 849.0931. No provision of Florida law permits for-profit corporations to conduct commercial bingo operations.

Bingo games conducted by organizations which are not expressly authorized to do so by FLA. STAT. § 849.0931 do not qualify for the exception from the gambling laws. Therefore, a bingo operator who does not meet the threshold requirement of FLA. STAT. § 849.0931 -- by qualifying as a "worthy organization" -- is conducting an illegal lottery.

Conducting an illegal lottery is a RICO predicate, included by FLA. STAT. § 895.02(1)(a)(32) in the definition of racketeering activity.

By basing its decision to require an injunction bond on unsworn, conclusory, self-serving and uncorroborated testimony which did not conclusively refute the detailed evidence previously presented by the State, the trial court abused its discretion. The

unprecedented order requiring the State to post an injunction bond also ignores a long line of precedent<sup>g</sup> establishing the distinctive standards applied when the government seeks an injunction pursuant to a statutory enforcement scheme.

Requiring the State to post an injunction bond places a chilling effect on law enforcement and impedes the State's ability to fulfill its traditional role of safeguarding the public interest. No principled reason exists for the prospect that millions of taxpayer dollars might have to be posted to maintain actions against large-scale criminal enterprises which have caused great harm to the citizens of Florida.

Further, the trial court had no authority to modify the injunction beause of Respondents' then-pending appeal of the injunction.

In addition, the State should not be held accountable for losses caused by Respondents' own actions. Respondents nominated a receiver who had, unbeknownst to the trial court, previously worked for the Defendants as their accountant and who later had to be removed by the court because of his apparent involvement in activities which violated the injunction. The State respectfully

g The injunction bond issue in this case illuminates a conflict between Banco Industrial de Venezuela, C.A. v. Mederos Suarez, 541 So.2d 1324 (3d DCA 1989), and Finkelstein v. Southeast Bank, N.A., 490 So.2d 976 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

submits that Respondents' own actions provide no basis for requiring the State to post an injunction bond.

Finally, imposition of an injunction bond is particularly inappropriate in a case brought under the Florida RICO Act, which was enacted "to provide new criminal and civil remedies and procedures ..." Requiring the State to post a bond in order to maintain an injunction which restrains further racketeering activity and preserves illegal proceeds places a disproportionate burden on the State's exercise of its police power which could potentially nullify the effectiveness of the new remedies and procedures which the Legislature provided to law enforcement.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. A BINGO GAME CONDUCTED BY AN ORGANIZATION
  NOT AUTHORIZED UNDER FLA. STAT. § 849.0931 CONSTITUTES
  AN ILLEGAL LOTTERY AND, THUS, IS RACKETEERING ACTIVITY
  WHICH IS SUBJECT TO THE FLORIDA RICO ACT
  - A. Bingo entails a prize, an award by chance, and a consideration and, therefore, constitutes a lottery

A lottery has three elements: a prize, an award by chance, and a consideration. Horner v. United States, 147 U.S. 449, 458 (1893); Little River Theater Corp. v. State ex rel. Hodge, 135 Fla. 854, 868, 185 So. 855, 861 (1939); Blackburn v. Ippolito, 156 So.2d 550, 551 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963); see also Op. Att'y Gen. 58-128 (game entitled "scunk" but played in the same manner as bingo); Op. Att'y Gen. 57-363 (bingo game sponsored by theater); Op. Att'y Gen. 57-310 (football game winner guessing contest); Op. Att'y Gen. 57-170 (drawing for free motel accommodations).

Bingo contains these three elements and, therefore, constitutes a lottery. The players buy pre-numbered cards, and the payment of money for the cards constitutes consideration. Numbers are drawn at random until one of the players announces that he or she has matched enough numbers on his or her card to complete the winning pattern. At that point, the player calls out "bingo" and is declared the winner of a predetermined cash sum of money. This, of course, is a prize. The prizes are awarded by chance, as there is

no skill involved. A player cannot win until the announced numbers turn out to form a winning pattern on a pre-numbered purchased card. See FLA. STAT. § 849.0931(1)(a) (defining "bingo game").

Bingo has been uniformly recognized as gambling and as a form of lottery by the Florida courts for more than 50 years. Creash v. State, 131 Fla. 111, 179 So. 149, 152-53 (Fla. 1938). In Carroll v. State, 361 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1978), the defendant bingo operators were convicted of conducting illegal lotteries. In Perlman v. State, 269 So.2d 385 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), the court addressed a bingo operation similar to that operated by Respondents in the case at bar. The Perlman court observed that the bingo operation was conducted through a corporate entity which had rental arrangements with charitable organizations "for the purpose of promoting and conducting the bingo with an aura of legality." Id. at 388. The sole officer of the corporation was convicted of maintaining a gambling house. Id. at 386; see also Madar v. State, 376 So.2d 446 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979).

Florida's Attorneys General have issued a lengthy series of opinions which uniformly state that bingo is a lottery. As long

¹ The official opinions of the Attorney General, while not legally binding upon the courts, are entitled to great weight in construing the law of Florida. Beverly v. Division of Beverage of Department of Business Regulation, 282 So.2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973); Richey v. Town of Indian River Shores, 337 So.2d 410, 414 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). The Beverly court, in adopting the Attorney General's construction of a statute, observed that the fact that two different Attorneys General reached the same (continued...)

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