OA 3-6.98



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS,

Petitioner,

т о_{ма} – .-

CASE NO.: 91,712 CONSOLIDATED

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

FIFTH DISTRICT - NO. 96-02661

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

88y__

FEB 9 1998 '

Chief Doputy Cierk

v.

BRADENTON GROUP, INC., et al.,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA HONORABLE R. JAMES STROKER

BRADENTON GROUP, INC. et al., ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS CASE NO.: 91,712

> LAW OFFICE OF THOMAS F. EGAN 204 Park Lake Street Orlando, FL 32803 407-849-1055

LAW OFFICE OF STEVEN G. MASON 1643 Hillcrest Street Orlando, Florida 32803 407-895-6767

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

These, are not after all Moose or Elks halls. In these cases, a typical situation is an individual or corporation purchases (or leases) a large free-standing property, between 15,000 and 20,000 square feet. It is equipped for bingo with--"[a]rticles designed for and essential to the operation, conduct, and playing of bingo,..." Section 849.0931(2)(a). These articles consist of furniture, tables, chairs, bingo machines and other business items/expenses such as bingo balls, doppers, advertising, bingo cards, electricity, janitorial services, etc.

These "commercial" entities are needed since many charities do not have the financial wherewithal to purchase and outfit a hall. There are a few charitable organizations that have their own facilities. Non-fraternal charities do not have such halls. As stated by Jeanne Smith, the director of the American Red Cross in Highlands county, without these bingo halls the Red Cross could not operate. The Legislature has sanctioned this arrangement.

Subsection 11 of the bingo statute reinforces the point that this type of commercial arrangement is permissible contingent upon "[t]he lease or rental agreement" not being subject to a percentage of the proceeds. The other caveat is that the owner/entity of the premises can only charge a rental rate (per session, per charity) which does not exceed rates for "[s]imilar premises in the same locale."

Nonetheless, the Attorney General's argument appears to be that this business structure constitutes a lottery. However, the statute does <u>not</u> address or forbid the owner of the premises from making money from other ancillary ventures associated with bingo. For instance, some of these bingo halls seat hundreds of people. They buy snacks, drink coffee, smoke cigarettes. How can selling these items to bingo players constitute an illegal lottery?

Although the bingo statute provides that a charity may not conduct bingo more than two times per week, if multiple charities are involved then obviously these halls can conduct many games.³

³Local legislation (county to county) has been adopted addressing this point.

As such, the owner of the bingo hall installs (owns or leases) a snack bar catering to the bingo players. The owner also installs numerous vending machines for candy, cigarettes and other arcade-type games. Although the commercial owner may make money from these side ventures, it is not prohibited under the statute--and why should it be? This is <u>aside</u> from the rents charged under \$849.0931(11)(c).

The District Court's opinion is flawed or, at a minimum, is unclear since "commercial" bingo, under the circumstances set forth here, is permissible. Bingo is "<u>authorized</u>" in halls for hire, where charities can conduct bingo under §849.0931. Renting a hall, furnished or not, is not conducting bingo.

IV. RICO INJUNCTION WAS IN VIOLATION OF STANDARDS OF LAW AND EQUITY

A. INJUNCTION STANDARDS

This does not appear as a garden variety injunction to preserve the status quo until a hearing on the merits. It was a request for injunctive relief pursuant to §§895.05(3),(5), Fla. <u>Stat.</u> The relief sought and right to such relief is somewhat unclear given the relationship of the RICO statute, the forfeiture statutes and Rule 1.610, Fla.R.Civ.P.

It was the Corporate Defendants' position that the injunction issued by the trial court had to satisfy the requirements of Rule 1.610, <u>Fla.R.Civ.P.</u> This was set out in the Motion to Dissolve the Injunction. It also has to satisfy the requirements of §895.05, <u>Fla.Stat</u>, Florida's RICO law.

The lower court, however, took the position that the injunction was governed by the provisions of §895.05, Fla.Stat., and these common law provisions, in part, were waived. However viewed, the injunction violates the laws governing injunctions. This is too extraordinary a judicial order to have been done without notice, without a bond, and without regard to the rights of individuals, both named and unnamed. More importantly, the express purpose of the injunction is to have the court enjoin the use by the defendants of all the personal property, bank accounts, etc. of defendants.

This is clearly overboard. In the context of litigation, this is also an unbelievable request. This is so for a number of reasons. First, the effect of the injunction was to render the accused, but still innocent defendant, destitute as the first step in the legal process.

Second, the Attorney General requested and received an injunction that denied the defendants use and access to their bank accounts and use or transfer of any of their personal property. The justification was that "the Defendants should ... in all likelihood render these assets unavailable for forfeiture if notified of this proceeding." (AG App. 2, p.3, para 6).

At appears as though neither this Court nor any other Court of Appeal in the State of Florida has ever approved an injunction freezing property of defendants in order for the plaintiff to have something to execute upon following judgment. As the Fifth

District Court of Appeal stated in the <u>Acquafredda v. Messina</u>, 408 So.2d 828 (Fla 5th DCA 1982):

No action for equitable relief can be maintained unless it falls within some acknowledged head of equity jurisprudence. Thus, where a complaint seeks an injunction to prevent a defendant from disposing of assets until an action at law on a debt can be concluded, no equitable cause of action is stated and no injunction should issue.

408 So.2d at 829, <u>citing</u> <u>B.L.E. Realty Corporation v. Mary</u> <u>Williams Co.,</u> 101 Fla. 254, 134 So.47 (1931); <u>Lopez-Ortiz v.</u> <u>Centrust Savings Bank</u>, 546 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); <u>Mary</u> <u>Dee's Inc. v. Tartamella</u>, 492 So.2d 815 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

Finally, the State of Florida requested and received a injunction preventing defendants from conducting bingo games, whether legal or not. Florida's RICO law, §895.05(1), Fla.Stat., sets out a number of purposes for which injunctions can be issued following judgment. However, there is nothing there that freezes assets and denies a person a right to conduct his business legally.

B. EQUITABLE STANDARDS

Under the common law standards for an injunction, an injunction is not available to act in place of the police. There is nothing that an injunction can do that criminal statutes do not already do. For that reason, Florida courts have recognized the general rule of law that a court lacks jurisdiction to enjoin the commission of a crime. <u>Travelers Insurance Company v. Conley</u>, 637 So.2d 373 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

Another common law standard for the issuance of an temporary injunction is that it should be granted sparingly and only after

the moving party has alleged and proven facts which entitle him/her to relief. <u>Liberty Financial Mortgage Corporation v Clampitt</u>, 667 So.2d 880 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966). Where it is done without notice as here, this court has stated:

The allegation verified by the presenter must be strong and clear, and the trial judge should raise in his or her own mind all possible responses a defendant could raise if present. Because the incursion upon precious due process rights is facilitated by issuance of ex parte orders, trial courts should issue them only where an immediate threat of irreparable injury "which forecloses the opportunity to give reasonable notice" exists.

Lieberman v. Marshall, 236 So.2d 120, 125 (Fla. 1970), <u>State v</u> Beeler, 530 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1988).

To protect innocent parties from abuse, after reviewing the motion and affidavits and before issuing an injunction, the court must examine the allegations and make specific findings. The court must require the moving parties to prove the following items in order to obtain a temporary injunction: (1) that the moving party will suffer irreparable harm unless the status quo is maintained; (2) that the moving party has no adequate remedy at law; (3) that the moving party has a clear legal right to relief granted; (4) and that the temporary injunction will serve the public interest. Liberty Financial Mortgage Corporation v Clampitt, supra. See also, Richard v. Behavioral Healthcare Options, Inc., 647 So.2d 976, 978 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

In addition to the above factors, the injunction itself must contain "clear, definite, unequivocally sufficient factual findings ... to support each of the four conclusions necessary to justify

its entry ... " <u>City of Jacksonville v Naegle Outdoor Advertising</u> <u>Company</u>, 634 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), <u>affirmed</u> 659 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1995). In effect, the allegations must lead the court to clear, unequivocal factual findings. The allegations and sworn statement cannot be conclusive.

As to all issues, the party moving for the injunction has the burden of proof. A temporary injunction is an extraordinary remedy which a court should grant only after movant has proven sufficient facts entitling it to relief. Dania Jai Alai Intern., Inc. V Murua, 375 So.2d 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), Jennings v Perrine Fish Market, Inc., 360 So.2d 434 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), Bemis Corporation v City of Jacksonville, 298 So.2d 467 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), cert. denied 310 So.2d 743 (Fla. 1974). At a subsequent hearing, the burden directed at the ex parte order and the burden of proving all these requirements again falls on the party seeking to support the order. See DeLisi v Smith, 401 So.2d 925 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981).

The above criteria are substantive. They are also procedural requirements set out in Rule 1.610, <u>Fla.R.Civ.P</u>. Those specific procedural requirements are that the movant must file and present an affidavit or verified pleading that immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage will result to the movant before the adverse party can be heard in opposition. Rule 1.610(a)(1)(A) <u>Fla.R.Civ.P.</u>.

The moving party must also certify in writing any efforts that have been made to give notice, Rule 1.610(a)(1)(B), Fla.R.Civ.P., and the reasons why notice should not be required. Rule
1.610(a)(1)(C), <u>Fla.R.Civ.P.</u> In addition, the injunction entered shall define the injury, state the findings by the court why the injury may be irreparable, and give the reasons why the order was granted without notice if notice was not given. Rule 1.610(a)(2), <u>Fla.R.Civ.P.</u>

In this case, notice was not given to any of the parties. In fact, in the State's motion it specifically states, "defendants should not be given prior notice of this proceeding because they would in all likelihood render their assets unavailable for forfeiture if notified of this proceeding." Motion for Temporary Injunction (App. 2/3, para. 6). This is not a sufficient excuse. The law and due process should not tolerate this procedure. As stated by the Fifth District Court of Appeal ...

The [Defendant] was not afforded meaningful notice as required before injunctive remedy may be imposed, nor were the terms of the Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.610(a)(1) relating to dispensing with notice met. Neither public policy, the interest of justice, nor due process can tolerate the procedure or result below.

Simpson v. Simpson, 524 So.2d 1124 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). See also Conway Meats, Inc. v. Orange Avenue Partnership, 440 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Florida's RICO law does not alter this. Nor does the fact that the State Attorney General is a party. There is no attorney certification in the motion of any efforts that had been made to give notice. This is inexplicable, in part, because the largest portion of the property here at issue, the real property, could not have been removed prior to hearing.

The temporary injunction itself does not "define the injury" nor does it "state findings by the court why the injury may be irreparable." As to the reasons it was given without notice, the order simply repeats the statement in the motion. "This relief is granted without notice to Defendants because Defendants would in all likelihood render these assets unavailable for forfeiture if notified of this proceeding." (AG App. 3, p. 4, para 6).

If the method was wrong, so was the purpose. The law is also well settled that an injunction cannot be issued merely to preserve property for subsequent seizure or judgment. For example, where a movant sues and tries to prevent dissipation of funds taken by conversion or the like, an injunction is not a proper remedy. <u>See Digaeteno v. Perotti</u>, 374 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). See Also Lopez-Ortiz v. Centrust Savings Bank, 546 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)("[t]he test for unavailability of an adequate remedy at law, under these requirements, is 'whether a judgment can be obtained, not whether, once obtained, it will be collectible.'" <u>Id.</u> at 1127. <u>citing Mary Dee's Inc. v. Tartamella</u> 492 So.2d 815 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986)) <u>Simpson v. Simpson</u>, 524 So.2d 1124 (Fla 5th DCA 1988)

The Attorney General had a legal remedy. Under Chapter 895 there are legal remedies. Under §895.07, the State of Florida could have filed with the local authorities a RICO lien notice. Section 895.07, <u>Fla.Stat.</u> This would have the effect of preventing the sale or transfer of the real property.

Alternatively, the State could have filed an action pursuant to §932.701, <u>Fla.Stat.</u> This is a civil action for forfeiture and

permits seizure of property, both real and personal, prior to judgment. They did not do so. There appears a number of reasons for this.

A forfeiture action would only apply to forfeiture of contraband materials as that term is used in §932.701(2)(a), <u>Fla.Stat.</u> Seizure would have to occur and a prompt hearing would have to held. Most importantly, if the State failed in its case, the rights of the injured party would have to be repaired.

Under §932.704(9), <u>Fla.Stat.</u> the seizing agency would have to pay the loss of income, value; in short, damages. Defendants would prefer such an action because it would give them a remedy for the State's wrong. In any case, this is another remedy at law available to the State of Florida.

C. RICO INJUNCTION STANDARDS

In their Motion to Dissolve the Injunction, these Corporate Defendants argued as one ground, among others, that the State of Florida failed to show irreparable harm, lack of an adequate remedy at law, a clear legal right or a substantial likelihood (App. B, p. 1-2, para. 2). The State of Florida, however, simply alleged these elements in its Motion for a Temporary Injunction. The trial court did not require these criteria to be met.

The trial court held that irreparable harm was not necessary. For that matter, the trial court disregarded all the common law elements. The reason for this lies in the RICO statute. Florida's RICO law provides a court with legal authority to enjoin alleged violations of Florida's RICO provisions. The State of Florida

sought the injunction pursuant to §895.05(5), <u>Fla.Stat</u>. The trial court expressly entered the injunction pursuant to §895.05, Fla.Stat.

There is a split in authority for the proposition, which authority is discussed below, that an injunction entered pursuant to §895.05 need not meet the requirements of equity and common law. As shown above, this injunction does not. There is no authority however for the proposition that a RICO injunction can be entered in violation of Florida's RICO law. That is what happened here.

Under §895.05, there is not a single provision that allows for or permits an injunction allowing all personal and real property of individuals or corporations frozen and seized by injunction. Rather, if the agency wishes to seize property it can do so pursuant to §895.05(3). The State wanted the real and personal property seized, wanted the businesses closed, but wanted the seizure done by an injunction not by the law governing forfeiture and seizure in §932.701 and not by police action.

If they wanted a preliminary injunction under §895.05, the State of Florida and the lower court is required to follow the law. That law is as follows:

(6) Any aggrieved person may institute a proceeding under subsection(1). In such proceeding, relief shall be granted in conformity with the principles that govern the granting of injunctive relief from threatened loss or damage in other civil cases, except that no showing of special or irreparable damage to the person shall have to be made. Upon the execution of proper bond against damages for an injunction improvidently granted and a showing of immediate danger of significant loss or damage, a temporary restraining order and a preliminary injunction may be issued in any such action before a final determination on the merits. (Emphasis added).

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